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NLS2007072 10 CFR 2.201
October 15, 2007

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Attention: Document Control Desk
Washington, D.C. 20555-0001

Subject: Reply to a Notice of Violation; EA-07-090
Cooper Nuclear Station, Docket No. 50-298, DPR-46

References: 1. Letter to Stewart B. Minahan (Nebraska Public Power District) from Arthur T.
Howell III (U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission) dated May 22, 2007,
"Cooper Nuclear Station - NRC Special Inspection Report
05000298/2007007)"

2. Letter to Stewart B. Minahan (Nebraska Public Power District) from Bruce S.
Mallett (U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission) dated August 17, 2007, "Final
Significance Determination for a White Finding and Notice of Violation -
NRC Special Inspection Report 05000298/2007007 - Cooper Nuclear Station"

3. Letter to Bruce S. Mallett (U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission) from
Stewart B. Minahan (Nebraska Public Power District) dated August 23, 2007,
"Extension Request for Reply to a Notice of Violation; EA-07-090"

4. Letter to Stewart B. Minahan (Nebraska Public Power District) from Arthur T.
Howell III (U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission) dated August 29, 2007,
"Cooper Nuclear Station Extension Request for Response to Notice of
Violation (NRC Special Inspection Report 05000298/2007007)"

Dear Sir or Madam:

The purpose of this correspondence is to provide Nebraska Public Power District's (NPPD) reply
to a Notice of Violation (NOV) in accordance with 10 CFR 2.201. By letter dated August 17,
2007 (Reference 2), the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) cited NPPD forbeing in
violation of NRC requirements. NPPD requested a 30-day extension to reply to the NOV on
August 23, 2007 (Reference 3). The extension request was approved by the NRC on August 29,
2007 (Reference 4).

The violation is concerned with Cooper Nuclear Station (CNS) failing to promptly identify and
correct, to preclude recurrence, a significant condition adverse to quality regarding a defective
voltage regulator circuit board used in Emergency Diesel Generator (EDG) 2.
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Reference 2 discussed the performance deficiency associated with this violation and concluded
the failure to identify and appropriately correct this condition resulted in adversely affecting the
reliability of EDG 2.

NPPD recognizes the importance of its responsibilities with respect to identifying and correcting
significant deficient conditions and accepts the violation. NPPD has taken prompt action to
maintain compliance with 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, Criterion XVI, and to prevent recurrence
of this violation.

If you have any questions concerning this matter, please contact David Van Der Kamp, Licensing
Manager, at (402) 825-2904.

Sincerely,

Stewart B. Minahan
Vice President - Nuclear and
Chief Nuclear Officer

/bk

Attachment

cc: Regional Administrator w/ attachment
USNRC - Region IV

Cooper Project Manager w/ attachment
USNRC - NRR Project Directorate IV- 1

Senior Resident Inspector w/ attachment
USNRC - CNS

NPG Distribution w/. attachment

CNS Records w/ attachment
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REPLY TO A NOTICE OF VIOLATION; EA-07-090
COOPER NUCLEAR STATION

DOCKET NO. 50-298, LICENSE NO. DPR-46

During Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) inspection activities completed on April 24,
2007, and following a regulatory conference conducted on July 13, 2007, a violation of NRC
requirements was identified. The violation and Nebraska Public Power District's (NPPD) reply
are set forth below:

Restatement of the Violation

10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, Criterion XVI, requires, in part, that measures shall be established
to assure that conditions adverse to quality, such as failures and malfunctions, are promptly
identified and corrected. In the case ofsignificant conditions adverse to quality, the measures
shall assure that the cause of the condition is determined and corrective action taken to preclude
repetition.

Contrary to the above, as of January 18, 2007, the licensee failed to establish measures to
promptly identify and correct a significant condition adverse to quality, and failed to assure that
the cause of a significant condition adverse to quality was determined and that corrective action
was taken to preclude repetition. Specifically, the licensee's inadequate procedural guidance for
evaluating the suitability ofparts used in safety related applications presented an opportunity in
which the licensee failed to promptly identify a defective voltage regulator circuit board used in
Emergency Diesel Generator (EDG) 2 prior to its installation on November 8, 2006, a
significant condition adverse to quality. Following installation of the defective EDG 2 voltage
regulator circuit board, the licensee failed to determine the cause of two high voltage conditions
which occurred on November 13, 2006, and failed to take corrective action to preclude
repetition. As a result, an additional high voltage condition occurred resulting in a failure of
EDG 2 on January 18, 2007.

This violation is associated with a White Significance Determination Process finding.

Background

On November 8, 2006, as planned maintenance was being performed on the voltage regulator
circuit board for EDG 2, a potentiometer was damaged causing an open circuit. This voltage
regulator board was the original one installed. A replacement board was drawn from Cooper
Nuclear Station (CNS) warehouse inventory and installed on November 10, 2006. This voltage
regulator board, and one other spare, were purchased from the original equipment manufacturer,
Basler Electric, in 1973 in accordance with quality assurance program requirements and industry
standards that existed at that time. Prior to replacement, CNS personnel contacted the
manufacturer's supplier and technical representative. It was confirmed the voltage regulator
board did not contain any components that would be subject to age-related degradation. The
supplier also indicated the board would not require a "bum-in" or additional pre-installation
testing.
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On November 13, 2006, while adjusting the newly installed voltage regulator board, EDG 2
tripped on over-voltage. A troubleshooting plan was developed utilizing Electric Power
Research Institute Document 1011110, Basler SBSR Voltage Regulators for Emergency Diesel
Generators. It was determined by a failure modes and effects analysis that this over-voltage
event likely occurred as a result of erratic behavior of one or both of the potentiometers during
dynamic tuning of the newly installed voltage regulator board. This conclusion was also
supported by representatives from an engineering firm, with voltage regulator experience, who
provided on-site technical support for this issue. Five test runs of EDG 2 were performed under
various operating conditions between November 13 and November 15, 2006. Data obtained
from the runs indicated the voltage regulator and its interfacing equipment were operating
acceptably. EDG 2 was declared operable on November 19, 2006.

Subsequently, on January 18, 2007, EDG 2 unexpectedly tripped on over-voltage during a
routine monthly surveillance run. Troubleshooting was performed with on-site assistance from
the manufacturer's technical representative and representatives from the engineering firm who
provided technical support in November 2006. The voltage regulator board was replaced on
January 21, 2007, with one procured from Tennessee Valley Authority's Sequoyah Nuclear
Station. EDG 2 was declared operable on January 22, 2007. The voltage regulator board
removed from EDG 2 was sent for non-destructive testing at an independent laboratory. Based
on the series of tests and troubleshooting performed, a zener diode was found to be defective on
the voltage regulator board. As such, the voltage regulator board was forwarded to a second
laboratory for destructive testing. This testing revealed that the zener diode had failed due to a
latent manufacturing defect. The defective zener diode degraded the ability of the voltage control
system to regulate output voltage of EDG 2 and resulted in the over-voltage event in January
2007. The laboratory also concluded the zener diode failure was intermittent, and would likely
not have been detected through standard screening test methods.

From January 29 through April 24, 2007, the NRC conducted a special inspection to examine
activities associated with the January 18, 2007, EDG 2 failure. The significance determination
was preliminarily determined to be a White finding as stated in the NRC Special Inspection
Report letter dated May 22, 2007 (Reference 1). The inspection concluded that failure to
establish appropriate procedural controls for evaluating the use of parts of indeterminate quality
prior to their installation in safety-related systems resulted in EDG 2 failure on January 18, 2007.
The NRC determined this to be an apparent violation of 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, Criterion
V, "Instructions, Procedures, and Drawings." On July 13, 2007, a regulatory conference was held
between the NRC and NPPD to discuss information related to the voltage regulator failures for
EDG 2. NPPD presented the failure mechanism of the voltage regulator circuit board, discussed
results of the root cause evaluation and associated corrective actions, and addressed the
significance of the failures on the EDG's reliability.

The final significance determination for the EDG failure resulted in a White finding as stated in
Reference 2. In this reference letter, the NRC discussed its decision not to pursue a violation of
10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, Criterion V; but rather, a violation of 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix
B, Criterion XVI, "Corrective Action," in that CNS failed to promptly identify a significant
condition adverse to quality that resulted in reduced reliability of EDG 2.
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Reason for Violation

NPPD accepts the cited violation.

CNS performed an evaluation utilizing root cause analysis for the January 2007 EDG unexpected
trip, root cause analysis for the white NRC Mitigating Systems Performance Indicator (for
emergency alternating current power systems), and the Notice of Violation finding. The causes
for the violation are as follows:

Equipment trend issues were not escalated in the corrective action process. The station procedure
for condition report initiation, review, and classification requires that a root cause investigation
be performed for repeat critical one component equipment failures that have been previously
addressed with a root cause or apparent cause evaluation. The EDG 2 high voltage event on
November 13, 2006, did not constitute a repeat critical one component failure and was not
considered to be a trend issue or related to previous voltage oscillation conditions in 2006. As
such, the November 2006 event was investigated through an apparent cause evaluation. The
procedure was ambiguous in that it did not provide an escalation to a root cause evaluation for a
trend of related equipment failures.

Additionally, quality assurance practices do not include review of vendor performance for
vendors no longer on the approved suppliers list (ASL) since the advent of Generic Letter 91-05,
Licensee Commercial Grade Procurement and Dedication Programs. Vendor performance
information at CNS, such as Institute of Nuclear Power Operations operating experience reports
and NRC 10 CFR 21 notifications, is gathered and evaluated to support the maintenance of
active, essential supplier listings on the CNS ASL. In this case, however, the original vendor of
the voltage regulator circuit board, from whom CNS procured the part in 1973, is not on the
ASL. The current process at CNS for assessing vendor performance does not include vendors no
longer on the ASL, but with end-use essential parts still in inventory.

Corrective Steps Taken and Results Achieved

1. As stated in the background, the voltage regulator circuit board for EDG 2 was replaced on
January 21, 2007, with one procured from Sequoyah Nuclear Station. This board was
procured safety-related in accordance with Tennessee Valley Authority's 10 CFR 50,
Appendix B, quality assurance program. Pre-installation testing and a six-hour run with a
load reject were performed. The replacement voltage regulator board operated properly.

2. The remaining spare 1973 vintage voltage regulator circuit board was placed in CNS blocked
warehouse stock and subsequently sent to the manufacturer's technical representative. This
will ensure the board cannot be installed in either EDG without sufficient evaluation and pre-
installation testing.
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3. The station procedure for initiation, review, and classification of condition reports has been
revised to provide additional criteria on how repeat trend issues will be classified. This
action will ensure trends of similar programmatic breakdowns or recurring, equipment failures
are appropriately escalated, based on consequences of the trends, and evaluated in the
corrective action process. The procedure change has been implemented at CNS.

These actions are complete.

Corrective Steps That Will Be Taken to Avoid Further Violations

The corrective action discussed in item 3 above has been taken to prevent recurrence of the
violation.

An additional action to prevent recurrence of the violation will be taken as follows:

1. NPPD will implement an action plan for essential components in CNS inventory that were
purchased from vendors not represented on the current CNS ASL. Elements of the plan are
as follows:

o Identify vendors not currently active on the CNS ASL who have essential components
in CNS warehouse inventory.

o Perform a one-time evaluation of these vendors against vendor performance
information currently available and document any concerns or discrepancies in the
corrective action process.

o Proceduralize a process for monitoring performance of those non-ASL vendors with
essential components stored at CNS.

This corrective action will be completed by December 15, 2007.

Date When Full Compliance Will Be Achieved

NPPD is currently in full compliance.
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ATTACHMENT 3 LIST OF REGULATORY COMMITMENTS©

Correspondence Number: NLS2007072

The following table identifies those actions committed to by Nebraska Public Power District
(NPPD) in this document. Any other actions discussed in the submittal represent intended or
planned actions by NPPD. They are described for information only and are not regulatory
commitments. Please notify the Licensing Manager at Cooper Nuclear Station of any
questions regarding this document or any associated regulatory commitments.

COMMITMENT COMMITTED DATE
COMMITMENT NUMBER OR OUTAGE

Revise CNS Procedure 0.5.CR, Condition
Report Initiation, Review, and Classification to NLS2007072-01 Complete
provide additional criteria on how repeat trend
issues will be classified.

NPPD will implement an action plan for essential
components in CNS inventory that were
purchased from vendors not represented on the
current CNS ASL. Elements of the plan are as
follows:

Identify vendors not currently active on the
CNS ASL who have essential components
in CNS warehouse inventory.

* Perform a one-time evaluation of these NLS2007072-02 12/15/07

vendors against vendor performance
information currently available and
document any concerns or discrepancies in
the corrective action process.

* Proceduralize a process for monitoring
performance of those non-ASL vendors
with essential components stored at CNS.
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